ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Richland County

Doyet A. Early, III, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

SEP 16 2015

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

MAURICE ALPHONSO ROBERTS, JR.,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2014-000468

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ROBERT M. DUDEK
Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1.

Whether the court erred by allowing incarcerated inmate, Demetrice James, to testify at the behest of the state that he was transported to court with appellant since any relevance this testimony had was substantially outweighed by its unduly prejudicial effect, since it impermissibly informed the jury that appellant was incarcerated during his trial, and thereby diluted the presumption of innocence?

2.

Whether appellant's case should be remanded for resentencing where the court failed to adequately consider the fact appellant was a juvenile at the time of the crime, and it imposed a de facto life sentence where appellant's relative culpability should have been considered during an individualized sentencing hearing?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Maurice Roberts was indicted by the Richland County Grand Jury for the offenses of murder, burglary in the first degree, two counts of attempted murder, and one count of attempted robbery. R. 720 – R. 729.

Appellant's case was called to trial on September 24, 2014, before the Honorable A. Doyet Early, III, and a jury. Tivis C. Sutherland, III, represented appellant. Catherine "Luck" Campbell, Nicole Simpson, and Meagan Walker were the assistant solicitors. R. 1.

On February 28, 2014, the jury found appellant guilty on all counts. R. 669, 1.20 – 670, 1. 12. Judge Early sentenced appellant to forty-five years' imprisonment for murder, forty-five years imprisonment for burglary in the first degree, twenty years imprisonment on the two attempted murder charges, and twenty years' imprisonment for the attempted robbery convictions, all concurrent. R. 685, 11. 6-18.

This appeal follows:

ARGUMENT

1.

The court erred by allowing incarcerated inmate, Demetrice James, to testify at the behest of the state that he was transported to court with appellant since any relevance this testimony had was substantially outweighed by its unduly prejudicial effect, since it impermissibly informed the jury that appellant was incarcerated during his trial, and thereby diluted the presumption of innocence.

Relevant Facts

Fifty-four-year-old Chandler Davis lived on Williamsburg Drive in Columbia, South Carolina. He lived with his wife his stepsons, Trenton and Troy Scott, and Brandon Jones. R. 48, l. 22-49, l. 17. Mr. Davis testified that he and his wife at times would let troubled children stay with them in an attempt to help them until their situation improved. When Vincent Nelson, Jr., “J School” was a minor, the Davis family let Nelson live with them for a time “to try and get him off the streets ... and back on track.” R. 49, l. 15-51, l. 17.

On January 25, 2013, the family was surprised when Vincent Nelson showed up at their house late that evening. They had not seen Nelson in months. “He kind of disappeared.” However, Mr. Davis offered: “I trusted him.” R. 51, ll. 6-24. The decedent, Brandon Jones, was also at the Davis house that evening. In the basement of the Davis house, they had a recording studio for the young people, and his wife also ran a beauty salon out of the house. R. 50, ll. 2-9.

The state’s evidence showed that Vincent Nelson had planned a robbery and the stereo equipment that evening, and he elicited the help of the seventeen-year-old appellant in

the scheme. The state, of course, maintained that appellant was an equal actor, in fact the shooter, in this case.

Mr. Davis remembered that while he was upstairs in his bedroom that evening that he heard “glass breaking, and I said, what’s my boys doing down there breaking now . . . I didn’t really pay it no attention that second, you know, too much like that. And, all of a sudden, I heard a gunshot, gunshot. Then I heard about three or four more . . . and so I jumped up” and went downstairs. R. 52, l. 23-53, l. 6.

Twenty-two year-old Joshua Williams testified he met Trent and Troy Scott when he was sixteen-years-old, and they shared a mutual interest in music. They invited Williams over to their recording studio in the basement of their home. R. 30, l. 13-31, l. 25. Williams remembered on the night of January 25, 2013, he was with the Scott brothers and Brandon Jones, and Mr. and Mrs. Davis. They were downstairs in the basement when Vincent Nelson, Jr. came over unexpectedly. Mr. Davis let Nelson into the home. R. 32, l. 3-34, l. 19.

Williams recalled that Nelson was acting real “odd.” Williams described Nelson as “lifeless,” and he said Nelson “kept pacing back and forth” talking on his cell phone. Williams offered that it was unusual for Nelson even to have a cell phone. R. 34, l. 11-35, l. 20.

Williams testified that Nelson asked Brandon Jones for a cigarette, and they went outside to smoke, since smoking was not allowed inside the house. R. 35, l. 18-38, l. 5. While they were outside the house, Williams remembered three other young men walked past them. One of these young men was staring at him. The three men suddenly attacked him, and Williams testified that he was “pistol whipped.” A gun or guns were pulled, and

Brandon Jones was on the ground, saying: “Don’t shoot me. Don’t shoot me.” R. 39, l. 11-42, l. 4.

Williams testified that a couple of the young men forced their way into the house, and then he heard gunshots. “And then I felt a jolt of pain, and that’s when I didn’t hear Brandon no more, and then everybody ran. All I saw was eight pair of shoes run up the hill, and Vincent Nelson, Jr. was with them.” Williams also remembered Nelson yelling: “Let’s go, let’s go” after Williams heard the gunshots. R. 42, l. 25 – 43, l. 22.

Trenton Scott also testified that Nelson showed up unexpectedly that evening. R. 121, l. 24 – 125, l. 12. Trenton also maintained that Nelson was acting “odd,” and that Nelson uncharacteristically had a cell phone that evening that he was using to make calls. Scott said: “Vincent Nelson kept on pressuring Brandon to come out for a cigarette smoke.” R. 126, ll. 2-23.

Trenton remembered that once outside appellant Roberts “ran in on me.” Trenton said he did not know appellant, but he said he could identify appellant because he did not have anything covering his face. Trenton testified that appellant pointed a gun at his head. R. 127, l. 10 – 129, l. 7.

Trenton told the jury that appellant hit him in the head with the gun and he remembered that Demetrius James was also involved. Trenton remembered the scuffle that followed over the gun, and he claimed appellant passed the gun to Demetrius James, “and then I started to fight Demetrius.” R. 129, l. 3 – 131, l. 15.

Trenton said he forced appellant “off the floor, and I held him in a full Nelson so just in case he [James] did shoot, he was going to hit him [appellant].” Trenton offered that

he was able to physically throw “appellant into Demetrius,” and then they were able to barricade the door to the house closed. R. 132, l. 1-136, l. 9.

Trenton remembered that during the fight, five shots were fired. Trenton was injured at the time: “I’m basically bleeding all the way through the hallway to my parent’s room” which is where he was when he heard the gunshots. 911 was called. R. 136, l. 1-137, l. 25. Trenton identified appellant as one of the men involved in the robbery attempt. Trenton testified that he only tried to protect himself from Demetrius James and appellant that evening. R. 144, l. 18-148, l. 23.

Jwaun Duckett knew appellant from the neighborhood and from school. He was at appellant’s apartment in Hammond Village off Broad River Road on the night of this incident. R. 183, l. 16-185, l. 22. Jwaun testified that he also knew Demetrius James and Deshawn McClary from “the neighborhood.” They had a “rap group” called the “600.” Jwaun testified that McClary, James and Nelson were all in the rap group. He later asserted that appellant was not part of their rap group. R. 187, ll. 3-23.

Jwaun testified that he heard appellant talking to Nelson that evening, and Nelson was saying “they got a lick to go do at a studio or something like that.” Jwaun said the plan to rob the studio that evening was Nelson’s. Jwaun claimed that appellant participated in the robbery attempt of the studio that evening. R. 193, l. 3-204, l. 8.

Jwaun also testified that he had observed a gun at appellant’s Hammond Village apartment about a year ago prior to this incident. Appellant told him the gun did not belong to him -- “he was holding it for somebody.” R. 203, l. 18-207, l. 12. Jwaun testified that after the incident appellant denied he shot anyone. Demetrius James was named as the

shooter. Jwaun said James was apparently bragging in the jail after his arrest that he was the shooter that evening. R. 204, l. 9-210, l. 13.

The men who testified as state's witnesses, including Jwaun, had extensive criminal records. R. 211, l. 20-212, l. 20. The state called Demetrius James as their witness. James testified that he had known appellant for about two years. James said he was involved in music, and that "I produce beats from out of my studio at home. I go to a studio on Decker Boulevard to do music." R. 263, l. 22-266, l. 20.

James testified that on January 25, 2013, he saw Nelson and appellant get into an altercation at the Davis house. James said he was only trying to "help out" appellant to prevent him from getting hurt in the fight. Appellant was only 5'3.¹ James said appellant pulled out a gun during the fight, but the gun fell to the ground. James said he grabbed the gun and "the next thing I know, the gun was being snatched from me, and then that's when the gun went off, after it was snatched from me and everything." James said he did not see appellant get possession of the gun again. R. 271, l. 8 – 275, l. 14.

However, at another point, James said he saw appellant shoot the gun one time. James said he heard more gunshots and he saw a man lying on the ground. James ran "all the way back to River Drive . . . I just lay on the couch kind of getting my thoughts together, and then I'd drift off to sleep." R. 275, l. 4 – 276, l. 25.

Let the jury know appellant was incarcerated at the time of his trial

The assistant solicitor had James acknowledge that he was facing up to life imprisonment for murder, and fifteen years to life imprisonment for burglary in the first

¹ This information is a matter of public record that this Court can take judicial notice of from the South Carolina Department of Corrections Incarcerated Inmate Locator.

degree. The assistant solicitor also had James testify there were no offers or deals offered in return for his testimony. However, James admitted that he hoped for help from the state given his testimony against appellant. R. 282, l. 8-284, l. 16.

The solicitor then asked James about any threats that were made against him, and if he was actually transported to court that day with appellant. At this point, defense counsel Sutherland objected, and a bench conference was held. Defense counsel argued this testimony was unduly prejudicial because it apprised the jury that appellant was incarcerated at the time of his trial. The judge overruled that objection. R. 284, l.17-285, l. 6.

James then testified that he was transported to court with appellant the prior day. James also testified that appellant made a veiled threat to him if he testified against him. R. 285, ll. 1-23.

Other evidence

Vincent Nelson also testified for the state. Nelson claimed that he was the “guinea pig” in the robbery because the others knew that he could get inside the house because he knew the family. R. 303, l. 22 - 307, l. 9. Nelson said that DeShawn McClary, Demetrice James, and appellant were also involved in the robbery attempt that night. R. 306, l. 17 - 310, l. 6. Nelson maintained once he was inside the Scott’s home, he called the others to let them know that the robbery could go forward. R. 310, l. 7 - 315, l. 5.

Nelson testified that he went outside with Brandon Jones and Josh Williams that evening to smoke a cigarette. McClary, James, and appellant “came down the hill” once they were outside, and that was when the altercations and gunshots occurred. Nelson said he heard two gunshots at first, and then a couple of minutes later he heard five or six more gunshots. He said he ran back to appellant’s apartment at Hammond Village. R.

316, l. 15 – 329, l. 3. Nelson found out the following day that his “friend Brandon had been murdered.” R. 329, ll. 4-8. Nelson said a .45 caliber gun was used on the night of the murder, and the state offered evidence attempting to link that gun to appellant. R. 329, l. 21 - 330, l. 22.

Decedent Jones was shot five times. McClary claimed that the .45 caliber gun used that evening belonged to appellant. R. 411, l. 9-12; R. 447, l. 2; R. 448, l. 9; R. 455, l. 6-8. Richland County criminal investigator James Standin Smith testified that Vincent Nelson was identified early on as the prime suspect in the murder. R. 573, l. 17 - 575, l. 17. The police searched several places for Nelson before he was arrested. Smith claimed that Nelson’s statement, along with that of Jwaun Duckett, provided probable cause to arrest appellant. However, Smith maintained that appellant was ultimately arrested based on his own statement, and the fact that he had a “black eye” which matched other descriptions of the fatal altercation. Smith testified his review “of the evidence in this case” revealed that “it was Maurice Robert’s gun.” R. 578, l. 25 - 579, l. 9; R. 580, l. 12 - 582, l. 6. On cross-examination, Smith opined that he found the testimony of Nelson, McClary, and James credible. R. 582, ll. 16-22².

In his statement to police appellant denied that he was the shooter. Appellant admitted he was at the scene of the crime that evening. Appellant also denied that he attempted to cover up the incident. R. 515, l. 6 - 520, l. 16.

Discussion

² There was also no objection to testimony that clothes found hidden at Hammond Village belonged to appellant. In addition, there was no objection to a jury instruction prompted by the solicitor that there did not have to be any specific intent to kill for the crime of attempted murder. R. 663-665.

Defense counsel properly objected to the state placing testimony before the jury that clearly showed appellant was incarcerated at the time of his trial. The United States Supreme Court, this Court, and courts of other jurisdictions have clearly recognized prejudice from the dilution of the presumption of innocence when a jury learns from evidence or other factors that the defendant on trial is incarcerated.

For example, in Estelle v. Williams, 525 U.S. 501, 504 (1976), the United States Supreme Court observed that “courts have, with few exceptions, determined that an accused should not be compelled to go to trial, imprisoned or jail clothing because of the possible impairment of the presumption [of innocence] so basic to the adversary system.” The Court in Estelle recognized that while physical restraint or shackles may at times be unavoidable because of a defendant’s disruptive conduct, such as in Illinois v. Allen, 397 U.S. 337 (1970), that compelling an accused to wear jail clothing, furthered no essential state policy in that case.

Further, a defendant being tried in prison garb, introduces an unacceptable risk of impermissible factors coming into play before the jury. The prison clothes are a constant reminder that the defendant was without the economic means to post bond and/or that he posed a risk of violence or flight (flight being evidence of guilt).

Defense counsel recognized that the jury hearing inmate, Demetrius James, testify that appellant was transported with him from the detention center to court would be very prejudicial to appellant. This testimony did not serve any possible state interest.

To illustrate that point, the record in this case reveals before the jury was ever allowed into the courtroom, the trial judge properly made arrangements to ensure that the jury would not see that appellant’s feet were shackled while at the defense table. There were

also several references in the record which show appellant was identified as wearing a yellow shirt, and being in street clothing during the trial.

There was simply no reason for the state to elicit this testimony from inmate James that appellant was transported to trial with him other than to prejudice appellant in the eyes of the jury because he was incarcerated at the time of trial. All efforts to prevent the dilution of the presumption of innocence by preventing the jury from seeing appellant shackled or in prison garb were destroyed by the state's deliberate and successful effort to place this testimony through James before the jury so the jury would know that appellant was incarcerated during his trial.

In Allen v. State, 248 Ga.App. 79, 545 S.E.2d 629 (2001), the court held that where physical restraints were necessary and observed by the jury, the trial court must give a curative instruction that the restraints on the defendant had no bearing on his guilt or innocence, and should not be considered by the jury during deliberations. It is apparent that a curative instruction is not possible, where, as here, the trial court overrules the defendant's objection to the evidence showing the defendant is incarcerated during his trial.

In State v. Gonzales, 129 Wash.App. 895, 897, 120 P.3d 645, 647 (Wash 2005), the court held that a defendant had the right to appear in court without "manifestations that he is being held in jail." The Court elaborated that "an indigent criminal defendant also has the same right to the unqualified presumption of innocence as one who can afford to post bail." Id. at 897, at 647.

In Gonzalzes the trial judge explained to the jury that all persons who could not afford bail were transported to and from court, and handcuffed outside the presence of the jury. The trial judge cautioned the jurors that the fact the defendant was in custody had no

bearing on its determination of whether he was innocent or guilty. The Court held that all criminal defendants were entitled to stand “equally before the bar of justice in every American court . . . This means that indigent defendants are entitled to the same criminal procedure as that received by persons of means.” State v. Gonzales, 129 Wash.App. 895, 903, 120 P.3d 645, 650 (Wash 2005), *citing* Griffin v. Illinois, 351 U.S. 12, 17 (1956). The Court found that if the defendant had the means to post bail he would not have had to endure the indignity of this instruction. The Court held it was a violation of his due process rights, and that when a trial right as fundamental as the presumption of innocence was abridged, reversal was required.

Here, the solicitor succeeded in having the jury learn that appellant was transported to court with a prisoner, and it was highly prejudicial, as defense counsel argued, because the jury now knew appellant was incarcerated during his trial. To add absolute insult to injury there was zero state interest involved that required that the jury unfortunately learn that appellant was incarcerated during his trial where it is clear beyond cavil that courts have recognized the obvious prejudice from such evidence. Cf. State v. Tucker, 320 S.C. 206, 264 S.E.2nd 105 (1995), (the use of shackles, not visible to the jury, was not unduly prejudicial particularly where they were warranted by the defendant’s prior escapes and conduct, and the trial judge also took extra precautions to minimize any discomfort to the defendant, and any prejudice to the defense. The judge further offered to instruct the jury that it had informed the defendant that he did not have to stand when the judge entered or left the courtroom).

The state not only gained the prejudice to appellant it sought from the admission of this incompetence evidence that appellant was incarcerated during his trial but any

relevance this evidence possibly had was substantially outweighed by its unduly prejudicial effect. See, Rule 403, SCRE.

This evidence was gratuitous, and it was not harmless in this case. The evidence impermissibly diluted appellant's fundamental right to the presumption of innocence, and there was disputed evidence as to who was the shooter in this case, and it was certainly far from a foregone conclusion that the shooting in this case was the "natural and foreseeable" result of the plan hatched by the older Vincent Nelson, Jr. Appellant should be granted a new trial.

2.

Appellant's case should be remanded for resentencing where the court failed to adequately consider the fact appellant was a juvenile at the time of the crime, and it imposed a de facto life sentence where appellant's relative culpability should have been considered during an individualized sentencing hearing.

Relevant Facts

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