ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Richland County

Doyet A. Early, III, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

SEP 24 2015

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

MAURICE ALPHONSO ROBERTS, JR.,

APPELLANT,

Appellate Case No. 2014-000468.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOHN W. McINTOSH
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 5758

South Carolina Office of Attorney General
P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-0265

DAN JOHNSON
Solicitor, Fifth Circuit
P.O. Box 192
Columbia, SC 29201
(803) 576-1800

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

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

ARGUMENT

I.

The trial court did not err in allowing a co-defendant to testify that Appellant threatened him while they were being transported to court for Appellant's trial.

Introduction

The court did not abuse its discretion in permitting a co-defendant to testify that he and Appellant were transported together since that information was part of the co-defendant's testimony that Appellant threatened him when they were together the day before Appellant's trial. The evidence did not prejudice Appellant because the fact that Appellant and James were transported together was only mentioned very briefly. Furthermore, it would not have been surprising to the jury that a person charged with murder, first degree burglary, two counts of attempted murder, and attempted armed robbery was in custody while awaiting and during trial.

How the Issue Was Raised

After testifying about what happened the night of January 25, 2013, Demetrice James admitted that he was facing various charges both for his participation in the January 25th crimes and for other unrelated offenses. (R. p. 282, line 8–p. 284, line 3;Tr. p. 503, line 8–p. 505, line 3). James testified that he had not been promised anything in exchange for his testimony, but he stated that he had been threatened “in a sense.” (R. p. 284, lines 4–19;Tr. p. 505, lines 4–19). The State went on to question James about the threats he had received:

Q. Now, we mentioned threats. Were you actually transported with the defendant, Maurice Roberts?

A. Yes, ma'am.

Q. And that occurred today?

A. Yesterday.

MR. SUTHERLAND: Your Honor, briefly, may we approach?

(OFF-THE-RECORD BENCH CONFERENCE.)

MR. SUTHERLAND: Yes, sir, just like to object to the testimony regarding my client being currently incarcerated.

THE COURT: Overruled.

MR. SUTHERLAND: On the grounds that it's prejudicial.

THE COURT: Overruled.

BY MS. SIMPSON:

Q. So, Demetrice, were you actually transported with Maurice Roberts here today?

A. Well, not today but yesterday.

Q. Yesterday, and did you speak with him or did he speak to you?

A. Yes, ma'am.

Q. Can you tell the jury what he said to you?

A. He told me that if I didn't testify today, that he would try to free my name out of this, but if I did, that I should just remember that he know where my dad live at.

Q. Okay, and how did you respond?

A. I asked him what he meant by that.

Q. And did he say anything back to you?

A. He told me whatever it means to me.

Q. Okay, and did you view that as a threat?

A. Yes, ma'am.

(R. p. 284, line 20–p. 285, line 23;Tr. p. 505, line 20–p. 506, line 23).

In his post-trial motion, Appellant renewed his objection to the testimony which revealed Appellant was incarcerated at the time of trial:

Over Defense objection, the State introduced testimony that Roberts was incarcerated pretrial. The criminal process presumes that a citizen accused of a crime is innocent. Testimony that the citizen is incarcerated and has been for 13 months for the offense being tried undermines that presumption of innocence. See *Missouri v. Deck* 125 S.Ct. at 2013 (The issue in *Deck* was shackling a defendant in front of a jury but the principle at issue is identical). That Roberts was incarcerated and had been so for 13 months was not relevant to the proceedings; ad arguendo if it were, the prejudicial effect of undermining the presumption of innocence far outweighed any claim the State might make towards relevance where the incarceration was the result of an arrest for the offense being tried, rather than the locus of a subsequent offense for which a citizen was on trial.

(R. p. 689). The trial judge denied Appellant’s motion, noting he “specifically remember[ed] advising the jury that the marijuana questions had nothing to do with this, they weren’t to discuss that and to consider no instances, et cetera.”¹¹ (R. p. 710, lines 18–21;March 11, 2014 Tr. p. 18, lines 18–21).

Standard of Review

Generally, “[t]he admission or exclusion of evidence is left to the sound discretion of the trial court, and the court’s discretion will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion.” *State v. Morris*, 376 S.C. 189, 205–06, 656 S.E.2d 359, 368 (2008) (citing *State v. Gaster*, 349 S.C. 545, 557, 564 S.E.2d 87, 93 (2002)). An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court’s ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in

¹¹ It appears that the trial judge was referring to a separate portion of the trial where evidence was introduced that police found marijuana when they searched Appellant’s home. (R. p. 506, line 12–p. 507, line 3;Tr. p. 731, line 12–p. 732, line 3). The trial court gave a curative instruction at that time that the jury was not to consider that information. (R. p. 506, line 20–p. 507, line 1;Tr. p. 731, line 20–p. 732, line 1).

factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support. *State v. Pittman*, 373 S.C. 527, 570, 647 S.E.2d 144, 166–67 (2008) (citing *Clark v. Cantrell*, 339 S.C. 369, 389, 529 S.E.2d 528, 539 (2000)).

Analysis

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting testimony that James and Appellant were transported to the courthouse together.

The testimony that Appellant had threatened James, who was both a co-defendant and a witness to the events of January 25, 2013, in an attempt to prevent him from testifying was relevant. *See State v. Edwards*, 383 S.C. 66, 71, 678 S.E.2d 405, 407 (2009) (recognizing “that ‘[e]vidence that a person charged with [a] crime procured or attempted to procure the absence of a witness or to bribe or suppress testimony against him tends to show unrighteousness of defendant’s cause and a consciousness of guilt” (quoting *State v. Goodson*, 225 S.C. 418, 429, 82 S.E.2d 804, 809 (1954) (Eatmon, Acting J., concurring))). And the fact that James and Appellant had been transported together explained why James and Appellant had had contact with each other that close to Appellant’s trial. The evidence that James and Appellant had been transported together the day before helped to corroborate James’s testimony that Appellant threatened him. The State was entitled to introduce evidence of Appellant’s threat as part of its case. *See State v. Johnson*, 338 S.C. 114, 122–23, 525 S.E.2d 519, 523 (2000) (“[I]t is generally recognized that the prosecution and the defense should be afforded wide discretion in the selection and presentation of evidence.” (citing *State v. Richardson*, 253 S.C. 468, 474, 171 S.E.2d 717, 719 (1969) (“The prosecution is required to prove the guilt of the defendant beyond a reasonable doubt and may, in its discretion, determine what witnesses

will be called in presenting such proof.”), *cert. denied*, 396 U.S. 955 (1969); *Imbler v. Pachtman*, 424 U.S. 409, 426 (1976) (“Attaining the system’s goal of accurately determining guilt or innocence requires that both the prosecution and the defense have wide discretion in the conduct of the trial and the presentation of evidence.”)).

No Prejudice

Appellant asserts that he was prejudiced by the admission of evidence that he was transported with James, which implied that he was incarcerated at the time of trial. According to Appellant, the evidence diluted the presumption of innocence that he was entitled to. Respondent disagrees.

Appellant compares the admission of evidence that he was transported to the courthouse with his incarcerated co-defendant to the situation where a defendant is tried before a jury while wearing prison clothes. The United States Supreme Court has recognized that when a defendant is forced to go to trial in prison clothes, “the constant reminder of the accused’s condition implicit in such distinctive, identifiable attire may affect a juror’s judgment.” *Estelle v. Williams*, 425 U.S. 501, 504–05 (1976). However, the mere mention of Appellant’s transport is not the kind of continuing image that the Supreme Court recognized in *Estelle* could prejudice a jury. Here, there was only a passing reference to Appellant’s incarcerated status, which did not prejudice him. *See United States v. Shaver*, 511 F.2d 933 (4th Cir. 1975) (finding a “‘brief sighting’ of an accused in handcuffs is not per se prejudicial”).

Additionally, the jury was well aware that Appellant was charged with murder, first degree burglary, two counts of attempted murder, and attempted armed robbery. Respondent submits that it was neither surprising nor prejudicial for the jury to learn that

Appellant was in custody at the time of trial, particularly in light of the seriousness of the numerous charges he was facing. It also would not have been surprising to the jury that Appellant was in custody since his co-defendants, who were charged with the same crimes, were all in custody.¹² In a case decided prior to *Estelle*, our supreme court found that a trial judge did not abuse his discretion in denying a motion for a mistrial after the jury saw the defendants “being shackled and being prepared to be taken to the county jail.” *State v. Moore*, 257 S.C. 147, 151, 184 S.E.2d 546, 548 (1971). The court favorably cited a Wisconsin case that recognized the following:

“[W]hen a jury or members thereof see an accused outside the courtroom in chains or handcuffs the situation is psychologically different and less likely to create prejudice in the minds of the jurors. . . . People normally expect to see a prisoner under some restraints in situations where he is able to escape if not in restraints.”

Id. at 152–53, 184 S.E.2d at 549 (quoting *State v. Cassel*, 48 Wis.2d 619, 625, 180 N.W.2d 607, 611 (Sup. Ct. 1970)). Appellant was not prejudiced by the evidence implying that he was in custody at the time of trial.

Respondent further notes that, at the point when James testified that he had been transported with Appellant, there had already been evidence introduced at trial that indicated that Appellant was incarcerated for at least a portion of the time between the murder and Appellant’s trial. For example, James testified that he only found out that someone had been murdered when his father asked if he had heard “about Maurice getting locked up for murder. . . .” (R. p. 278, lines 5–11; Tr. p. 499, lines 5–11). Defense counsel did not object to that evidence. And prior to James’s testimony, Jwaun

¹² During his instructions, the trial judge informed the jury that, as to the witnesses who had prior records, “the only consideration you can give on the past record is using that to determine his or her believability or credibility.” (R. p. 651, lines 13–22; Tr. p. 903, lines 13–22).

Duckett testified that he spoke to Appellant about who did the shooting, and Appellant told him that “[t]he person who really did it going around the jail bragging saying he did it.” (R. p. 209, lines 11–13;Tr. p. 425, lines 11–13). On cross-examination, Duckett further explained that he had heard James going around telling people he had done the shooting. (R. p. 215, line 8–p. 216, line 17;Tr. p. 431, line 8–p. 432, line 17). Defense counsel followed up by asking if Appellant, James, and Duckett were all present for that conversation, and Duckett responded, “Nah I was in a dorm with everybody That went around the whole jail.” (R. p. 216, lines 1–7;Tr. p. 432, lines 1–7). Thus, even prior to James’s testimony, defense counsel actually elicited testimony that at least implied Appellant was incarcerated. Because Appellant’s incarcerated status had already been alluded to at trial, Appellant was not prejudiced by James’s testimony that he and Appellant were transported together. *See Estelle*, 425 U.S. at 507 (recognizing that courts have refused to find error where a defendant was tried while wearing prison clothes but the defendant was being tried for committing an offense while in confinement or in an attempt to escape and, to that same point, further favorably citing a court of appeals decision that noted “[n]o prejudice can result from seeing that which is already known”).

For all of the above reasons, the presumption of innocence attached to Appellant throughout trial was not diluted by the limited evidence that Appellant and his incarcerated co-defendant had been transported together.¹³ That evidence was relevant to

¹³ Nor should the evidence have been excluded as more prejudicial than probative under Rule 403, SCRE. Defense counsel did not specifically mention Rule 403, SCRE, or any argument that the evidence was more prejudicial than probative when he objected to James’s testimony—defense counsel only stated that it was prejudicial. However, in his post-trial motion, Appellant asserted the prejudice “far outweighed” any relevance to the

the State's case, and the trial judge did not abuse his discretion in admitting that evidence.

Harmless Error

If this Court were to find that the trial court erred in admitting evidence that Appellant was transported to court the day before his trial, the error was harmless because the impact of this nugget of evidence was minimal.

“Whether such an error is harmless in a particular case depends upon a host of factors The factors include the importance of the witness's testimony in the prosecution's case, whether the testimony was cumulative, the presence or absence of evidence corroborating or contradicting the testimony of the witness on material points, the extent of cross examination otherwise permitted, and, of course, the overall strength of the prosecution's case.”

State v. Gracely, 399 S.C. 363, 375; 731 S.E.2d 880, 886 (2012) (quoting *Delaware v. Van Arsdall*, 475 U.S. 673, 684 (1986)).

As outlined above, the State's case against Appellant was very strong—not only did all of Appellant's co-defendants testify against him, but the victims also identified Appellant as one of the burglars, and there was plenty of circumstantial evidence to corroborate the direct evidence presented by the State. The effect of the admission of evidence that implied Appellant was in custody at the time of his trial was isolated and inconsequential, and any error that resulted from the admission of that evidence was harmless.

State. (R. p. 689). Appellant now argues that the evidence that Petitioner was transported to court was more prejudicial than probative. This argument does not warrant relief since, as discussed above, the evidence had probative value and did not unduly prejudice Appellant.

II.

Appellant's claim that he should have received an individualized sentencing proceeding due to his age at the time of his crimes is not preserved.

Introduction

Appellant never requested an individualized sentencing proceeding, and this issue is not preserved. Additionally, there was no need for an individualized sentencing proceeding since Appellant received a forty-five year sentence.

Appellant's Sentencing Proceedings

After the jury delivered its guilty verdicts, the trial judge heard from both sides regarding the sentence that should be imposed. (R. p. 675, line 3–p. 683, line 15; Tr. p. 927, line 3–p. 935, line 15). Defense counsel requested that the court impose the minimum sentence. (R. p. 676, line 24–p. 677, line 5; Tr. p. 928, line 24–p. 929, line 5). Defense counsel also asked the court to consider that Appellant was seventeen at the time of the crimes. (R. p. 676, lines 10–14; Tr. p. 928, lines 10–14). Appellant spoke on his own behalf, saying “I just, you know, I would like to apologize to the family for, you know, what happened.” (R. p. 677, lines 12 – 13; Tr. p. 929, lines 12–13). Defense counsel then instructed Appellant not to “go further.” (R. p. 677, line 14; Tr. p. 929, line 14).

The trial judge ultimately sentenced Appellant to forty-five years imprisonment for murder, to forty-five years imprisonment for first degree burglary, to thirty years imprisonment for each of the attempted murder convictions, and to twenty years imprisonment for attempted armed robbery, which were all set to run concurrently. (R. p. 685, lines 5–18; Tr. p. 937, lines 5–18).

Standard of Review

The basic rule for an attack on a sentence in South Carolina was laid down in *State v. Conally*, 227 S.C. 507, 510, 88 S.E.2d 591, 593 (1955), where [the South Carolina Supreme Court] stated “This Court has no jurisdiction to disturb, because of alleged excessiveness, a sentence which is within the limits prescribed by statute, unless: (a) the statute itself violates the constitutional injunction, Article 1, Section 19, against cruel and unusual punishment, or (b) the sentence is the result of partiality, prejudice, oppression, or corrupt motive.”

Stockton v. Leeke, 269 S.C. 459, 461–62, 237 S.E.2d 896, 897 (1977). The burden of demonstrating that a sentence is cruel and unusual is on the person asserting the constitutional violation. *See id.* at 463, 237 S.E.2d 897 (“The presumption of validity extends to the statute in question here, and appellants must assume the heavy burden of persuading us that this penalty is without justification and is unconstitutionally severe.”).

Analysis

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